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HEARING OFFICER'S DECISION
I. NATURE OF THE CASE:

A young child was a student in the Publi

received special education. had difficulty learning.
was Dbasically home-sachooled. was then in Ms, b
clazs and then later in Ms. 's class. Ms. 's class

wasd a preschool special education class designed for children with

autism. The =student did not do very well in these classes.
parents s=ent to a private school. At the private school
learned more than had in the Public School eclasses.
parents want to pay for fees at the private school.
says that this child did as well as could in their

classes and they contend that their plan for education can teach

and, therefors, should not have to pay for private
school.

My decigion will be whether I agres with the parents or .
In reaching that decision I have determined the facts from the
witnesses' testimony and exhibits about observations and conclusions
from testing or evaluations. I have had to determine whether the
facts under the law prove that this STUDENT received appropriate
educational benefit defined as progress or lack thereof while in Mrs.

‘s class and, more importantly, would have received the
regquired education in pursuant to the November, IEP. In
reaching this decision I have also had to decide the effectiveness
and appropriateness of two different methods of teaching autistic

children and the weight to be given to evidence of the amount of

progress, if any, under each of these methods. The progress, amount
or lack thereof, under 's method ws. the private school method
is critical because of 's position that this child's gbility

to progress is and was limited by his disability.
II. SUMMARY OF FACTS:

The school board introduced evidence from the following
witnesses:

:J' ’ 'l
and - The parents presented evidence
from

] - F &

B and . This hearing




lasted three days and produced a transcript of
pages.

approximately 750
Also introduced into evidence were extensive exhibits from
both sides.
SCHOOL, BOARD 'S WITINESSES
+ @ sSpeech pathologist employed by the
+» testified on behalf of the - She has been a speech
language pathologist for 27 years and her responsibilities are to
diagnose and treat children with communication problems. She worked
with » the STUDENT in this case, for a period of three
years. Ms, provided services to the STUDENT once a week for 30

minutes when was home baszed, F When was in

‘s olass, ‘!, =she saw individually for 30 minutes
and with other students for some pericd of time. Ms. did neot
provide any services to the STUDENT when was in Ms. 's class
during the school year of at
School.

Ms. did an evaluation of the STUDENT in October of
She testified that during the time that she worked with
received educational benefit. To support her conclusion she offerad
that had begun to follow directions and that was more
comfortable with . peers. She stated that did well and
blended well, Ms. testified that while in ‘s
class at did not initiate contact with other
students but that improved. She stated that by September, 2002
when had finished the program that had ng
changes in expressive language. According to Ms. ; at the
end of the program at in could sit
through a whole language group of approximately 30 minutes compared

to the approximately 2-5 minutes of sitting time at the beginning of

the program. She observed in regard to her evaluation that
she didn't observe many of the skills that she had seen when was
in the P.E.D.D. classroom of Ms. [Farents' Exhibit 71].
At her evaluation the STUDENT was not able to do what she had
previously seen do. Ms. believes that the regression that
she observed when evaluating was due, in her opinion, to
transition to a new program. Ms. 's evaluation included three




different days of ocbservation. When she completed her evaluation on
October 24th had been both in the
thereafter in the

program and
preschool autism pProgram in  Ms .
s classroom for a total of eight weeks.
that the P.E.D.D. in Ms.

She acknowledged
'S classroom was a group setting as

was the program at t Ms . noted among other things

particularly that would not imitate actions, needed hand-over-
hand to imitate playdough actions and was not able to do that
activity independently. She observed being unahle to use the
methodology to move from one activity to another. i
during her evaluation, engaged in a self-stimulatory behavior of
putting toys in mouth. She observed that could not follow
any commands and did not interact with other students or initiate
contact with teachers. When asked to compare her observations
with testing done by the Center, Parents' Exhibirt 4, she
was unable to make that comparison as she had not reviewed those test
results. On specific questioning by me Ms. was unable to offer
any explanation of why the may have used cne methodology of
teaching as opposed to another.

Ms. testified on behalf of the 5 She was

's teacher in preschool autism program at
School during September, October and November of

She testified that she was using a methodology of ingtruction that

was modeled on the TEACCH program as she had learned in instruction
at the University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, In describing this
methodology Ms. uses the terms "visual, structured teaching".
In testifying about her students generally she notes that the skills
varied per student. In describing one-on-one instruction with

during her 3-hour class she stated that would include 15-30 minutes.
As to specific observations of improvement she stated that when she

first began to teach I could wvisually attend for one second and
when left her classroom that was up to three to five seconds. Ms.
had just started to work on individual skills with before

left her classroom and had been unable to do any independent
work when first came in her classroom in September of . When
left her classroom was not wverbal and had no words at all.




was only able to form some letter sounds. Ms. testified
that students in her class became more social by beginning to

initiate social interaction with peers and adults, could walk

independently with an occasional Prompt and could throw some of

trash away. wWas picking up items when asked and following a lot

of basic one step commands and could i1dentify animals and animal

sounds as well as starting to identify colors and being able to

imitate and identify some body parts. Initially this witness

testified that the student had exposure to other children who were
not impaired when they went to the cafeteria and to the library. 1In
cross-examination, however, she admitted that the students did not
have enough time to go to the cafeteria and lunch or snack would be
in the classroom. Ms. "'s students would go ocutside for recess
if they could fit that in.

Ms. testified that at circle time such activities were
She
acknowledged that could not sing. Ms . acknowledged

being taught as calendar activities and ginging songs,

's lack of imitation skills while stating that such skills are
helpful but were not necessary in order to learn. BShe testified that

during these group activities, and particularly circle time, that

although did not actually participate was able to =it still
in a group setting without Deing a behavior problem as far as being
aggressive with other children. She testified that during circle
time . was starting to imitate movements to songs and, therefore,
was attending during parts of that time.

She did not remember if engaged in self-stimulatory behavior
such as looking away nor did she remember what 's mother had
shared with her with regard to another methodology of teaching. She
was unable to reéemember if Mrs. had talked about

possibly needing to go to school all year. This teacher was unable
to remember how the goals in the IEP were going to be achiewved, This
teacher testified that she sent a newsletter home with the students
as well as a note at the beginning of the school year regarding
October words and objects for identifiecation. However, she didn't
know if the parent received that note and did not know if it was in
the student's packet or not.




In testifying about the evaluation done by the previous witness,

Ms. ! , She testified that Ms. never came in to dao an
observation but that she did an evaluation and she took out of
the classroom on two occasions into a separate room to evaluate .
The report of Ms. 's with regard to her observations had not
been seen by this witness. M= . prepared a draft list of

objectives and goals for this student's IEP without considering any
of the recommendations or evaluations of one Dr.

Despite being familiar with the TEACCH methodology of teaching Ms.

- did not know if there was or was not a general recommendation

of at least 20 hours of school instruction each week.

Ms. . remembered the necessity of collaboration between home
and school in regards to the TEACH metheodology but could not remember

any recommendations about the school day. She acknowledged
evaluation done by Dr. on August 29,

an
recommending
a different methodology of teaching called ABA Therapy. She did not
know why ABA Therapy was disregarded in drafting the IEP that was
offered for this STUDENT. Ms. knew that at the IEP meetings
that the parents of this student wanted ABA Therapy. She testified
that "we refused to provide private ABA programming for =
educational serwvices" [School Board Exhibit 70] and she read into
evidence further that feals that the student's educational
needs and IEP can be met in a public school system which would
include the autism program of hers at .
Though unable to remember much before, 4in response +to leading
questions regarding the preparation of the IEP she concluded that all
information was considered. She testified by conclusions with the
use of words as "great eye contact", "good participation at the
circle", "attempted to wave at Hello song"”, "wvery social with other
students", "great job checking schedules", "nice job with schedule”,
"no assistance when given green ticket™, "transitioned
independently", ‘'great eye contact today", ‘'practiced galloping
today", "lots of sound imitation™. As one of Ms. 's objections
to the ABA method of teaching autistic children, she opined that she
did not believe it was a very good method for teaching social skills

because ABA Therapy did not teach autistic children in what was
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9 not being around Other students, She

STUDENT she replied that she did

g Drogress in her clasgs, Finally,

although Stating that the goals for her Students were for them to

make progress that she meant that she wanted her students to
42 much progress ag it is possiblae. Ms.

exhibit
testified that it

at home.
She stated that Mrg. + the mother of the STUDENT, was not
very forthcoming with information. Ms . testified that She
knew that 's mother was unhappy with the Program. She knew that

the mother wanted a different Program which involved a different

method aof teaching and Ms. Stated that she knew that from the

notes that were Sent in by Mrs. on September 4th about what

She was wanting in the program. She did recal] Mrs,

Tequesting the Parent-teacher meeting for about 15 minutes when Mrs.
asked questions about the Program and expressed her concerns

but did not recall that Mrs, told her anything about what
was working on at home.

Ms. testified and was this STUDENT'sg teacher for
the school vear in a Preschaool Education for
Develapmantaily Delayed (PEDD) at School., In her

classroom because her students are at different levels and of
different abilities an awful lot of individual work is done for the
child. She described 's self-stimming activities in her
classroom and how it affected ability to be attentive to tasks.
She stated that it was difficult for to focus and that attention
to tasks interferred with some of learning.

Ms. testified that 'S progressed in her class with
ragard to self—atimulatory behaviors, participation in group
activities and attention to tasks. She testified that when came
into her class had difficulty following one step commands and
needed some hand-over-hand d3sistance. AS the year pProgressed the




amount of prompting decreased, made more eye contact and
go to the sink, stand up and to the bathroom and

would

to the table with
less wverbal prompting. At the beginning of the schaol year

hand-over- hand assisztance when Ms.

Needed
v would tell to "go get
your snack" to the end of the school Year when

needed lass and
less werbal Prompting and would jump up and run over and get his
snack and run to the table. She also testified as to toileting that
in the beginning of the School vyear with less hand-over-hand
assistance that with more verbal prompting was able to go to the
restroom and push down pants, sit on the toilet and get up and
pull pants up and run out compared to the beginning when the
staff had to pull pants down and up. In the beginning of her
class vear was prompted by hand-over-hand asgistance to stand
up, circle and walk to the calendar and Touch with Ms. 's hand
on | hand every number as counting went on. As the ¥ear progressed

would touch the numbers as Ms. counted. at
the beginning of Ms. 's school vyear with would have to be
walked to the sink where would hold hands under the water,
that staff would turn the water off and on and help dry 's hands.
As the year progressed learned to turn the water on independently
and to turn it halfway off with prompting and could dry hands
independently. She testified that there was some difference with
regard to being able to take coat coff and that while continued
to explore toys by putting them in mouth improved by playing
With two toys in mouth and would remove the toy 4if was told
"out of mouth".

Ms. testified that she herself evaluated this STUDENT on
September 5 and &, [School Board Exhibit 59] verifying that
evaluation and offering that needs & lot of prompting and is
prompt dependent. She explains that did not perform well on

this evaluation because the evaluation was directed towards

independence and without prompting Was not able to perform as
well with these assessments [School Board Exhibit 59]. M= .
testified that she had noted in her assessment/evaluation that =)

imitation skills were in the 8 to 12 month range and that imitation

was important to maintain attention to what a teacher/directed




dctivity is doing. She testified that she had reviewed

records
from the Center [Parents' Exhibit 4] and had ng
explanation at the lack of improvement in the Fall of when she

did her evaluation compared tao the evaluations done at the

Center [Parents' Exhibif 4] before came in to her classroom.

Ms. pointed out that with two instructors and seven
children she was able to devote 50% of the time individually with
eacn child and would give more individual instruction as neaded. Ms.
did not know if she had told this student's parent that the

STUDENT needed more hours of instruction than  could get in the

- A3 to whether or not needed more hours
she opined that that was totally up to the next teacher. Mg,
continued the dual theme approach of its defense by pointing
out the progress made by the STUDENT while being unable to comment on

potential but being able to opine about any lack of ar minimal
Progress as being limited by 's cognitive developmental delays.
This witness identified "attending skills" as a student being able to
focus on a spoken or demonstrated command and then fto begin an
activity and follow through to completion. She testified that
did not master these defined attending skills in her class but that
got better at them. Her Opinion was that had I seen at the
beginning of her class in and then at the end in there
would have been a clear difference in what has been described as
attending skills. M=. recognized Dr. ' report as
showing a lack of attending skills that she had described at the end
of her school year and attributed those loss of skills not to
regression but due to transition from one program to another. She
believed that transition alternatively would take two or three weeks
and sometimes a month. She stated that she wouldn't be concerned
with the loss of skills for an adjustment periocd of up to Z% months
atter the change of classes or programs.
This witness recognized the evaluation done by

& speech therapist. She recognized the difficulty of her
evaluation showing no imitation skills, the need for a lot of hand-
over-hand assistance, no ability to respond to commands and no

interactions with other students or teachers. she answers this




regressive evaluative report by referring to
incorrectly stating that Ms.

transition and

did not pull the student oput and
take to a separate room.

, » Director of Special Education for

"+ testified on behalf of the L She testified

regarding the TEACCH methodology as a fundamental basis for programs

in for autistic children. She testified that at times

other programs are needed, for example, when a student might have

behaviors that are interferring with learning, the might

develop specific behavior programs that would focus on the applied

behavior analysis more than programs that might be based on the

accepted methodology, TEACCH. Dr. testified that

some autistic students receive ABA Therapy services but that it 1is

not used as a methodology for all autism Students in

2 The
services offered by through the TEACCH methodology, according
to Dr. *+ is offered by because ths is

charged with providing services in a least restrictive ENVironment
and ABA Therapy is one-on-one for a 2tudent for a1l of a day and,
therefore, a very restrictive learning environment. She testified
that the looks first at opportunities for c¢hildren to progress
on their IEF objectives in ways that are the least restrictive. She
describes the difference in the two methodologies as being primarily
the one-on-one all day therapy methodology of ABA as opposed to the
TEACCH methodology invelving larger groups in what she describes as a
natural environment, meaning the mirror of what a typical school day
may look like.

Dr. observed the STUDENT in class for
approximately 40 minutes and testified almost completely in total
centradiction of the observations of the teachers and
their and other evaluations thereabout. br. testified that
ABA Therapy services are offered in the tor autistic children

for such things as aggressive behavior, self-stimulating activities
and attention process. Dr. * recognized that 's earlier
teacher in her evaluation identified the STUDENT's
biggest concern as being a lack of attention and dinability to

complete tasks. Dr. + 1n recognizing that observation raport,
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Stated that she wished Ms. . had the Opportunity to qualify what

that meant, Both Dr, and Mg, had that qualification
opportunity and did not so gualify. D
rebuttal was uninstructive,

This STUDENT's teacher at

's testimony on

" " glso
testified by way of rebuttai indicating that she had talked Lo Mrs,

; » the student'sg mother, about the Possibility of moving to

and also that she had indicatea that she ag a teacher
could only do what the _ allowed,

The last witness for the was Yo BR_D., =l
school bsychologist for the of = By testified
that she had reviewad the Psychological evaluations done by Dr.

and by Dr. + Witnesses for the

STUDENT. She Prepared a Psychological report of her own completed in
Cctober, [School Board Exhibit &7]. She completed this in
conjuction with Dr. ' testing. Dr. testified that her
results in the cognitive area Were consistent with those found by Dr.
and by Dr. - 1n her testing she noteg that the STUDENT

had fleeting ang inconsistent eye contact. DY, testified
dbout the need, she believed, for Social reinforcement which wag
available through the Program at and which she believed,
although she had never observed this STUDENT directly, was limited by
the one-on-one therapy at the i She reviawed and
commented on the evaluation pProcedures used by Dr. and opined
that administration of the Bayley Scales was of concern because
was too old for the test. Br., testified with regard to

page 4 of Dr. '8 report (Parents' Exhibit 17] opining that
there was virtually no developmental progress for in the area of
cognitive and language results between April, and December,

2 This witness believed that there was no basig for a
bsychologist to make a determination as to 'S cognitive function
in April of . She testified further that the HELP test does
yleld a cognitive score but that the same HELP result per School
Board Exhibit 23 and 26 did not Yield a cognitive Score and,
therefore, there was none despite the 4-27-2000 IFSF scares far

éxpressive communication and receptive communication [School Poard
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Exhibit 29]. She stated that the expressive communication and

receptive communication scores from the Rossetti that were listed

cannot be used to determine cognitive function. She opined that the

no development, no progress noted by Dr. between April,
and 2002 was not consistent with her opinion because the teachers'

descriptions of skills that they had seen this STUDENT gain and the

testing indicate noted progress. She qualifies that statement with
the following: ‘"certainly not no progress, by any means."

Dr. concludes that based on her evaluation of and
review of school file she thought that the IEP of November,
was appropriate to meet educational needs. Without any further
explanatioen Dr. comments regarding Parents' Exhibit 79 &about

the Peabody Test given by one showing receptive
vocabulary capability increasing from the one percentile to an age
equivalent score of 3 years 9 months in a pericd of five months
because she would have expected rate of progress to be very slow
and that much improvement is a huge jump in progress.

Dr. recognized an observation of the student that if left
ta own devices in a non-structured situation engaged in self-
stimulation. She observed +the STUDENT licking some items or
mouthing. While would engage with her wasn't 4initiating or
integrating the social reaction with her. As to why her conclusions
should be accepted as opposed to thoze of Dr. she testified
that she compared the skills that Dr. had described or that
were described in the 2000 report and then listened to Ms. * and
Ms. az to skillzg gained in their classrooms and the skills she
saw in her testing and emerging skills that she saw in her own
testing. When asked about what she meant when she said there was
progress she summarized the progress as that in steps in toileting,
in steps in transitioning between activities, in being independent
walking down the hall and a lot of little things for a child with
cognitive impairments that this child has. Dr. agreed with a
atatement that essentially said that children with autism go through
developmental spurts Dbetween the ages o¢f 5 and 13 and some
spontaneously begin to talk around age 5 or later. In addressing the

differences in the TEACCH methodolgy as opposed to the applied

12




behavior analysis, ABA methodology, she defines aBa methodology as

behavioral driven ang TEACCH as a methodology that is more
EmCompassing using a bit more of the environment.
the TEACCH approach helps the individual to

environment . Continuing to assail opinions,

She bhelievasg that
function in the

testing evaluations or

Cbservations with which she did not agree Dr. - questions

's evaluation that because she had seen the STUDENT at different

places and different times it would make a
results,

difference in the tesgt

FPARENTS ' wWITNESSES
., Ph.D., was employed at the . when
came 1in for screening and for part of the time that was in that
program. She now works with another program in the State of Maine.

She testified +that 's parents were sSgeking . an alternative
placement fraom being concerned that their was making very
little progress in and they were considering an alternative
teaching methodology for - ©She testified that at her Screening in
the Summer of had

2evere autistic symptoms and very littie
in the way of cognitive skills, engaged in a high frequency of
self-stimulatory behavior, was non-verbal and was basically not able
to engage in any purposeful activities. She pointed out that self-
stimulatory behavior interferes with a child's ability to engage in a
meaningful way with the environment and that unless such behavior is
addressed the child's ability to learn is significantly limited. She
testified that such behavior needs to be addressed in a very
structured on-going manner. She testified that had a lack of
engagement because of self-stimulatory behavior which dimited

in performing when was put in a situation that required o |
respond in some way tTo the environment. She reviewed 'z
November 4, IEY and found it Striking that no gecal therein
addressed this behavior.

She testified that a concensus document published by the National
Research Counsel at the National Academy of Sciences concluded
children diagnosed with autism should engage in a minimum of 20 hours
of education per week for 12 months during the year. She pointed out

that many children need more. She testified that this time tor
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teaching preschool students with autism Presents a tremendous oppor-

tunity while the Student's cognitive Wwindow 1is wide open. She

pointed out that in learning to attend, had to have that foun-

dation laid for later academic learning and that the minimum hours of
20 per week allows Such autistic children as
cpportunities to engage with the appropriate education

gain the skill at a rate that's likely to produce prog

to have enough

al materials top

ress.

Dr. is familiar with both the TEACCH methodology used by
and the ABRA methodology used by the private School.

She testifies that absent from the TEACCH methodolgy is the number of

direct instruction hours, i.e., one-on-ocne instruction, that we now
know are critical to pProducing good skill gain in young children with
autism. She commented about the ¢ritical importance of parent
training as being a component and critically important in the on-
going success of teaching children with autism. Dr. offered
evidence with regard to the least restrictive environment component
of 's education pointing out that children With autism lack two
very critical component skills that are Necessary to allow them to
learn in what is described as a natural environment, i.e.,
interaction with typically developing children. Autistic children
have a deficit in the ability to imitate other pPeople and they are,
therefore, inhibited in their ability to learn in the natural
environment. The other critical compenent is what Dr, calls
Joint attention and until the child with autism masters what Dr.

calls a technique of joint attention the ability of the child
with autism to learn from the natural environment is tremendously
inhibhited. She testified further since . Showed no imitation

Skills and no joint attention skills it was difficult therefore to

get to show any independent seeking of Jjoint attention by
attempting to communicate with others about objects in tha
environment,
She testified that at the under the ABA program
began to learn and has developed the basic jJeint attention
8kills and has also developed imitation skills. Without these
Skills she opined that would have ability to learn in a
group session very much affected. She testified that for this
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STUDENT because of the nature of disability and the significance

of self-stimulatory activity that the one-to one intervention,

i.e., that methodology employed by the + has given

enough structure so that is able to work and perform in an
educational setting without self—stimulatmry behavior interfering
with learning. She pointed out that because of this had

made educational gains. D testified that in July,

when she first saw had no ability to focus on a task
independently and that without the extended schaool day, parent
training and one-on-one instruction could not master the skills

listed in the IEP as QGoals Objectives. Dr. testified that

for a child with 's level of disability that daily data
collection is wvery important. She emphasized that to continue to
make progress such data collection was necessary.

Dr. testified generally about her observation of the
setup and methodologies used in the Schoaol
program of Ms. and said:

LLE s

Flven my knowledge of children with autism, of educatignal

programs for children with autism, my observation of Ms. g
classroom on several occasicns, my knowledge of and the
behavioral picture brings to the table and educational
challenges, I do not believe would be able to achieve the
goals that are on current IEP if werea placed in the
Structure as it currently exists in " [August 15,

Transcript, p. 202]

Dr. testified that she had reviewed a report from Dr.

and his evaluation dated December 9th and it influenced her
opinion on this STUDENT's progress. It was a significant red flag.
Basically she testified that for a pericd of almost two years based
upon evaluations done over that time that this child had made no
progress. She points out that if an autistic child is not making
significant progress in the skill areas of verbal language that the
chances of wvery severe long term disability are high and the chances
that such autistic children as this student are going to develop
verbal language in their lifetime drops precipitously. She added"
"And this is a child who was making nc progress." August 15

#
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Transcript, p. 232.

With regard to guestions about 's mental retardation Dr.

testifies that accurat: measuring of cognitive level
children with autism 1= very difficult and

in
it would be better
She points out that
in the private school was able to very quickly begin to gain
skills in the structured direct instructional model ,

answered as developed language skills.

She testified
that had made very significant progress in a relatively short
period of time referring the and the ABA method. She
testified that the skills she had seen gain in the

included instruction of 6 hours at school, an after school program

and in her opinion an extended school year which was critical for
children with autiszsm. Her reasons in determing the critical nature
of the extended school year was testified to be that autistic
students lost some of the opportunities to gain skill because of the
difficulties with interacting with the environment.

Dxr. testified that the states of New York, Connecticut,
California and Maine and Ontario, Canada all did reviews of the
empirical literature dealing with educating wyoung children with
autism and all of these reports, empirical rewviews of literature,
reached the same conclusion that the intervention technique, i.e.,

teaching methodology, with the best evidence to support its
effectiveness with children with autism is applied behavior analytic
teaching techniques, i.e., ABA methcdology. Bbr. points out

that people in the field of education who =say that the ABA

methodology doesn't work generally rely upon perzonal opinion from

what they had heard others say and not upon the standards of
empirical evidence.

participated in and implemented an ABA type of

program in the STUDENT's home in August, until about December,

3 She described self-stimulatory behaviors in her efforts with

at home. The program that she was implementing changed and

was revamped by one in October, . The main

concern then was attention skills for and, connected therewith,

getting rid of the self-stimming behaviors. The focus was on a lot

of behavioral things and upon the implementation of an errorless
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correction procedure. When she first began working with
nonverpval and had no language to speak of.
began at the

was
She testified that oncea

and with the home program that she was

implementing language blossomed. was able to repeat almost

everything that you said and was making speontanecus production of
own and with the help of the witness
able

they were
to get 's attentive skills and focusing ability under

control and removing stimming behaviors so that it was much eagsier

for to focus on attended task. She testified that was able

Lo repeat almost everything +that the ingtructor/prompter/teachear
would say. For example, if she =aid ball would say ball; if she
said book would say book. If she showed a picture of a book

would say book. She testified that though she never kept count of

how many words he could recognize and repeat, 1t was approximately

100. She testified that had articulation problems so that it
would not be as clear as other pecple's speech but response was
distinguishable. Ms. testified that was now a verbal
child.

» testifying for the parents, worked at the

for approximately seven months during the
school year and was 's program coordinator. She helped
with the design and implementation of 's home program on or about

September, October and November, i She spoke with

; 's mother, about her concerns and watched a wvideg of

during a therapy session. She observed significant lack of
attending skills, all prerequisite skills to having an actual,
functioning teaching session. She then personally met and
noticed self-stimulatory behaviors. She testified that 41if an
autistic child did not have attending skills, which she defined as
making eye contact, locking at teacher, complying with the
directives, s=sitting in chair with hands down and fest on

the floor, that the student could not gain anything from the teaching

session and any such teaching session without those attending skills

would be & waste of time. Ms. felt that they needed to
give the fundamental skills, attending skills, to make teaching
sess2ions productive. At the time she gaw and saw the wideo
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had no attending skills and was unable to work independently. Mz,
was also 's program coordinator at the
charge of developing brogram. She testified that in additic

being unable to pay attention or have attending skills that

355
n to

lacked in October of imitation skills which prevented from

being able to function in a group program where imitation skills were
necessary. When I asked about her observed progress in regard to
attending skills during October and Hovember, and how she could
attribute that progress to home program as opposed to the
program at Elementary she testified that the home
bProgram which was one-on-one was significant compared to the 15
minutes of one-on-one in the brogram and the types of
skills that she understood Was working on in the
Program were not those kinds of skills that she was talking about
where progress was observed. She testified +that the TEACCH
methodology was not, in her opinion, an appropriate way to teach
autistic children because it was not Scientifically wvalidated. She
stated that she believed in Scientifically walidated interventions,
i.e., methods of teaching, of which TEACCH had not been demonstrated.
'+ the mother of the STUDENT, testified that her
" began services for disability in February, through
the Center. After that was involved with the
Homebound Program and among other things received a ong day
half an hour wvisit per week from a speech therapist who Previously
testified, L also received extended school year
services for a summer program which along with the hoemebound program
was during the school year ‘ In the school year
entered the PEDD program at r Elementary and teacher
was Ms. . Mrs, testified that during the Spring
of that school year she was invited by the teacher and came to view
the classroom to see how was doing. She had Previously wviewed
in the classroom at the beginning of that school year. At that
observation Mrs. was shocked at the lack of 's progress
compared to the other children who all seemed to be on the same level
as during her early wvisit that school wyear and in a group

SesSsion could point and identify the calendar and numbers and often
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verbally pronouncing the numbers while
the days of the week.

could not even point +tg

Because of her concern about what she observed as lack of any

Progress and her dissatisfaction with the 4-week summer program she

learned about the ABA Drogram. At the height of her concern she
talked again sometime in the Summer of about ABA Therapy
became more concerned when Ma. told her

likely to get ABA Therapy in the

and
that she was not

i Following that
Mrs. ' set up a home program based on ABA Therapy. She kept
daily data collection, Parents' Exhibit 47, showing her initial
responses to four commands that were being worked on in her home
Session one-cn-one therapy. Shortly after that at a Scheduled IEP
meeting she voiced her opinion that had not made any progress in
the PEDD program and she felt he needed tc be moved to an autism
program. She composed a letter, Parents' Exhibit 32D, which
discussed her concern with the TEACCH program. She advised those at
the meeting that she believed needed a longer school year, a
longer extended school year, one-on-gne instruction and positive
reenforcement and at home support from the school in regard to how to
follow through with the school program at home. Following that Mrs.
: requested and had a 15 minute conference with new
teacher, "+ and made notes which she took with her to that
meeting, Parents' Exhibit 326, Hoping that this would be a new
program that was going to work for her she wanted to find out
what would be done differently than the previous Program under Ms.
. After an explanation of the methodology to be used in this

new program as TEACCH Mrs. concern was that the program
did not sound wvery different from the PEDD program that had been
involved in the prior years and which she did not feel was making

any progress with. BShe testified that the one-con-ocne therapy in this
program was to be 10 to 15 minutes a week as told to her by the

teacher, i
Mrs., received the evaluations prior to what she calls
the eligibility meeting for the IEP Cctober, and was concerned

that they were ringing true to the child that she knew, 1.e., there

was noc progress, extreme distractibility, stimming behaviors
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observed, no language skills noted, very little receptive language.
She wvoiced her concern about ABA Therapy and one-on-one instruction
and eszsentially received no response except that what was being
offered by was something that was appropriate.

that when new goals for the IEP in November of

She testified
were drafted that
17 were the same as old goals from an old IEP even though she had
requested new goals. She understood that goals needed to be changed
and was concerned that if the goals were the same and,
not been achieved since

therefore, had

that they were now inappropriate. Mrs.
felt that the goals needed to be broken down into smaller

components consistent with the methodology and program at the

School. She felt after observing her in the classroom at
that wasn't attending, that was stimming
and needed redirection. wasn't responding to directives.
Mra. observed her son in Ms. class and she
noticed the lack of appropriate eye contact and that was

able to follow the commands, such as stand up, ec¢lap hands and =it
down, which were those that she had been working on in the home
program all summer. was unable to as they call it transition as
it 4is described as PECS. Mrs. basically gave wverbal
confirmation to Parents' Exhibit 16. Mrs. described in
detail her cbservations of that day in Ms. class; this
was identical to all of the evidence in this case, based on
observation.

Mra. observed and described the program at the
School as basically a flip-flop of what the program was at

. went to school 6 hours a day, 5 days a week and of

those 6 hours only 10-15 minutes were spent in group Time which she
describes as a total opposite of what's been done in the
program. The program included extended year services and depended
upon positive reinforcement upon correct completion of specific
programming goals. Specific data was taken and the parents were
immediately trained to follow through with the technigques at home
that were being used at the school,

Mrs. * describes communication skills following the

program under IEP as being non-existent.
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Compared to that progress and language skills at the

. Was amazing. made huge gains. For example, was able to
verbally identify different cards placed in front of
assistance by January in the

and without
was pointing to over 100
different objects correctly when teachers would peint to the word.

When I observed in the School I szaw verbalize five

different objects which were being pointed out by the teacher and

watched point to over 20 different objects when the teacher would
say the word describing that ocbject.

Mrs. stated that when her began the ABA Therapy at

had absolutely no imitation skills whatsoever. was

unable to learn social skills by being in a group setting because
didn't even look at or make eye contact with those in the group and,
therefors, © was unable to imitate. She observed the imitation
skill is something that comes naturally to most children but has to
be taught to

Mrs, testified that had absolutely no transitioning
problems from the PEDD program to the program at

2 She
also testified that had none when meved to the

She opined that based on her observation in order to have a problem

With transition attention skills were needed and did not have
thos=se.

¢ Ph.D., a licensed clinical paychologist and
Assoclate Professor of Psychiatry at  Who is alzo the Director of
Developmental Disorders Assessment Clinic for young children with
autism, testified for the parents. At the Dr.
had written an evaluation of this STUDENT involving testing and
observation. reviewed the evaluations done by and
concluded that had made no developmental gains over the period
of Public School education . He describes at

the time of the testing was able to do the basic skills of joint
attention in a wvery structured setting. Dr. testified that

at the in an extensive structured program had made
a lot of gains in receptive language according to the objective data
kept at the school. 's behavior challenges, specifically
distractibility and self-stimulating behaviors, were still present
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especlially in the absence of structured instruction.

testified
that in the absence of that level of direct instruction, which
defined as meaning continual interaction with the child on a4 one-gn-

one basis, that ability to oCccupy
very small and at such independent times

independently was

would revert back to the

interfering behaviors., At observation was having a lot of

trouble making use of a group session. Even with the support of a

one-on-one person sStanding right behind in the group, had a
lot of difficulty maintaining attention tasks. In the absence of a
high level of structure of one-on-one with the teacher directly being
involved with along with one-on-one aide person behind

was distracted and was not attending to what was going on in the
group.

Dr. i conclusion based on the behavior that he observed in
the group setting was that wasn't able to benefit from the group
instruction in terms of learning content. did not benefit at all
from the group in terms of content, academic instruction, language
skills or cognitive skills. In regard to t level of functioning
Br. ' pointed out that such level is markedly impacted by =
distractibility and lewvel of stereotypical behaviors that was

engaging in. He believed that the progress that he saw in the
School, being intensely structured and, thereby, managing the types
of behavioral challenges, specifically distractibility and self-
stimulatory and stereoctypic behaviors. Dr. essentially
debunks the premise that transition was responsible for the poor
results in at Elementary emphasizing that
transition problems should not exceed two weeks. He pointed out that

in being so-called transitioned to the School was just as
much & transition as any of the others relied upon by i Efd
despite that, from te . demonstrated ability
Lo learn very gquickly with appropriate support in that kind of
setting in a transition [(Parents' Exhibit 717].

In answer to the of continued guestions
attempting to justify the lack of progress in their program due to
the underlying disability of autism coupled with possible mental

retardaticn, Dr. points out that the child's ability to learn
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should not and could not be measured by a conclusion of mental

retardation because of the level of interfering behaviors. Dr.

repeats again that on the basiz of
observation of at the

evaluation and
School that because of
inability to attend to group instruction or participate in a small
group that could not benefit from small group instruction.

testified and is the Program Coordinator for this

student at the School. She testified about the importance of

simultaneous collection of data with regard to instruction with

autistic children as being dimportant in determining progress
ochijectively. Otherwise, she states that the teacher would rely on
memory and often that would result in inaccurate data. To alleviate
that the program at the School collects the data the moment
the student performs a teaching/learning task. Anecdotal data is a
concern because it involves data taken after the facts relying upon
Che data collector/teacher's memory and limits itself to subjectivity
in which there is always a bias. Ms. points out that
because all teachers want their children to progress that unless
learning data is collected immediately it becomes less than oblective
because biases lead to interpret things that really aren't there.

In describing program as other witnesses have also
indicated she points out the necessity of mastering or at least
paying attention to attending skills. It is difficult 4if mnot
impossible to learn quite simply if one cannot pay attention to the
materials. Attending skills and skills like matching and imitation

are those that are automatic in other kids but not for kids with

autism and particularly not with . M=, testified that
based on 's history he had demonstrated that was unable to
learn in a group setting. That needed an intensive program
involving providing multiple opportunities to practice the program
skills and to keep focused. If is focused responses are
forthcoming. If the teacher walks away and gives a break

reverts back to self-stimulating conduct. lack of attending
skills, 1i.e., being able to pay attention, were of sSuch short
substance when first came inte the praogram that
distractions in rooms had to be covered with a sheet so there
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would be nothing to distract and
atten

would be better able to
d toc the program rather than paying attention to all of the
stuff arcund - At the point of her testimony the

program
was able to gain the attention of

to the extent that they now
have been able to restore the environment back to its

remove the white sheet.

original and

In reviewing a report by speech therapist

this
witness observed that the problems noted in that report were
consistent with the conduct of when first came to y. ‘Em

the basis of observation and review of an evaluation by one

this witnesz noted a great deal of progress in receptive

language skills. Ms. observation indicates that has
very Jlittle if any transition problems either with regard to
different teachers or different settings. matching skill
improvement has been phenomenal. had none prior to coming to the
School. has shown much improvement Wwith expressive
language 1in that will approximate anything that Yyou attempt.
has progressed and is doing spontaneocus labeling/vocalizing. did
little of this when came to the School and wasn't able to

imitate sounds on demand then.

This witness reviewed the November, IEP and the goals stated
therein for this STUDENT. She points out that her concern is and was
that in order to master the goals ability to attend wasz a skill
necessary as a foundation and without those prerequisite skills

would struggle with the IEP goals. Generally this witness pointed

out as have almost all witnesses that until can eliminate
behaviors and pay attention, i.e., master to sSome extent attending
skills, will not be able to make progress toward the IED goals.

vy Who at the time of her testimony was the interim
administrative director at the School, is TEACCH certified and
had observed - classroom at . Elementary
School. She identified the methodology of teaching in that classroom
as the TEACCH model involving primarily group instruction. She
witnessed and talked with Ms. about the use of the Picture

Exchange Communication System, PECS. This witness responded that Ms.

Spent about 15 minutes a day one-on-one with each child doing
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direct instruction,. She abserved without the

in a high level gof self-stimulatory behavior, Ms., _
describeg the TEACCH methedoloay and what she sScesg as its
limitations. In general, she testified that this method, which was
used in - and invglved in Preparing the objected to IEP, simply

doesn't break down the components of learning which the AEBRaA Therapy
does.

After the hearing at scheduled times I personally have visited
and observed the preschool autistic classroom at Elementary
School. The set-up, layout and structure was very similar to what
all of the evidence indicated. The so-called TEACCH method of
instruction was obvious as was what they called the PECS methodology
of moving from one instructional activity to another. The' program
from group instruction observed was consistent with the evidence. By
observation alone, however, I was unable to confirm the testified to
TEACCH methodology system being involwved with integrating the student
in the environment as opposed to the ABA Therapy which necessarily
limits that by the consigtent and constant one-on-one direction
teacher to student. The classroom setup and methodology used were
similar to and consistent with the classroom setup and methodlogy
with which I was extremely familiar with through other cases since
the 1970's with regard to teaching preschool children and early
elementary school children with cognitive delays.

I also visited the School and observed in
several of different ABA therapies and I observed all of the
different activities that he could have been involved in through the
8ix hour school day. I observed a great deal of the progress
indicated by the evidence and specifically saw repeat without any
prompting 7 or 8 words, select picture objects in response to words,
initiate word requests in Tesponse to simple directions or gquestions
by the teacher. I observed matching skills, simple puzzle Placement
skills and the like which were not demonstrated by the evidence in
the program. 1 observed attending to the program with
little prempting by the teacher. Any prompting done with regard to

any of the activities was not hand over hand but was generally one or
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twoe word directions or commands . Seif—stimulatcry activity that 1

observed was minimal and involved the STUDENT on several occasions

looking back at me fleetingly and then directing eye contact to

something other than what was being instructed, I watched , a9

they call it, transition from room to room and gctivity
and ocbzerved nothing unusual.

to actiwvity
activities were all one-on-one

but consistently there were other children coming and going and cther

teachers and children coming 4into, leaving and Speaking to the
teacher directly involved in the one-on-one therapy.

was not
distracted by any of this and appeared to appropriately divert
attention and immediately go back to this one-on-one task. The
methodology that I observed at the School was a methodology

that I had ne prior familiarity with nor any prior knowledge of
III. Finding of Facts:
4. Undisputed Findings:

All requirements of notice to the parents of the child with

regard to due process rights were satisfied. There were and area
no procedural issues. This child is without dispute a student with a
disability under the law who needs special education and related
Services, The educational services received by this child in the
private school are appropriate and Provide significant educational
benefit to the STUDENT as measured by progress as defined by the law.

H. Further Finding of Facgt:

The process following this due process complaint is that as
mandated by law under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act
(IDEA}, 20 U.B5.C. § 1400 et Seq and the appropriate regulations.
Recent cases in the United States District Court for the Fourth
Circuit have overturned hearing officer decisions because of the
hearing officers' failure either to give enough weight +to the
professional judgment of witnesses for the school board or Day
appropriate attention to experts. [County School Board of Henrico
County, Virginia v. Zachary Michael Palkovics by and through his
parents and next friends, Roberf William Palkovics and Nancy
Michaelle Palkovics, U.S. Distriet Court, Eastern District, Richmond
Division, CN 3:03Cv396, September 26, 2003, and J.H., by and through
his parents and next friends, JO and 88; JD; 88 v. Henrico County
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Schoel Board, U.S. Court of Appeals Fourth Circuit, April 21, 2003,

No. 02-1418] Those cases, along with the law defining the process,
virtually eliminates any ability to decide the
conclugion of the case.

issues at the
By definition therefore the decision could

not be rendered until the Lranscript was prepared. Likewise, a

fortiori, the transcript then must be read and reviewed and then the

opinion drafted in written form. I was prepared in this case to make

the decision at the c¢lose of the evidence. The testimony and
exhibits were fresh at that time. I was unable to do so because of
both the law and the process. While the transcript was being

prepared the Palcovics decision above was announced. Therefore, even
more careful scrutiny had to be made of the evidence hampered by the
time deadlines imposed by the regulations of IDEA. The decision then
that I would have made had the process allowed at the close of the
evidence was required to be put aside and ignored in a new and fresh
attempt to decide the case on the basis of multi-reviews of the
evidence and exhibits and the hearing notes. The decision reached
with =mall exceptions mirrors the decision that I would have
announced at the cleose of the evidence on August 19, 2003 had the
process so allowed.

This comment is necessary to explain to the parties and those
otherwise interested to explain the enormous amount of time involved
and my ORDERED delays in the time of the decision.

C. Finding of Facts:

Tia This STUDENT made little, if any, measurable progress and
received little, if any, educational benefit in the special education
programs that attended in .

i The IEP of HNovember, 2002 was not designed so as to
implement educational benefit.

3. The primary skill that this STUDENT lacked was that of
attention labeled herein as attending skill,

4. The methodology involving basically group
instruction does not address the attending skill problem and,
therefore, does not deliver to the STUDENT educational benefit as

measured by progress.

5. The 4intensive one-on-one methodology used by the
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School demonstrates this STUDENT's ability to receive educaticnal

benefit as measured by progress not demonstrated in the
program.

Consistent with the requirement of law the eVidence wag

given the most significant of consideration.
and great weight was given to each of the

Careful consideration

witnesses, All
of the evidence was offered to shaow the

educational benefit by this STUDENT as determined by the
evaluations, observations and opinions.

receipt of
Witnezzes'

That evidence was Simply not
persuasive.

Although "+ the STUDENT's +teacher at
Elementary, testified that she believed would receive educational
benefit from the November IEP and had received educational benefit in
her class it is her basis, therefore, that is 4in question. For that
basis she points only to extremely minimal differences in thais
STUDENT's activities. Many pertinent questions were revealed by the
record that she could not anawer and Jjust could not remember. The
basis of her coneclusion Of progress rested upon things such as
was able to wvisually attend for three to five seconds compared to an
earlier one second. She justified her conclusions by the
observations of great eye contact, good participation, attempted to,
very social, great dob, nice Job and transitioned independently.
Considering these Subjective conclusions along with her manner and
dppearance while testifying and her opportunity for knowing the truth
and observing the same I give little credibility to her testimony and
find the witnesses for the parents more believable.

Similarly teacher in the prior year in a
PEDD classroom at testifying in support of the

position was unpersuasive and not as believable in regard to
her conclusions as other witnesses. Her testimony in itsg attempt to
provide a basis for her opinion of educational benefit was, at best,
minimal. That testimony was actually in conflict with her own
evaluation of performed on 09/05/ {School Board Exhibit 59]
showing poor performance and the lack of improvement when compared to
the baseline like evaluation demonstrated from Parents' Exhibit 4

evaluation from +the Center, Her explanation of
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loss of skills at the time of her evaluation as tégression simply

belies common sense. Like the teacher this witness by

her appearance and manner on the witness stand apPpeared to be without

Credibility and reluctantly defending the

methodology.
Dr.

selected teaching

testimony as Director of the Exceptionajl
Educational and Support Services of the Public Schools was

not as credible as other Witnesses since her OPPortunity to know the
Lruth was dependent upon a 40 minute observation of at the
School. Her observation was for the most part in direct
conflict with my own observations made under similar circumstances
for a like period of time,
Similarly Dr. ' Was less than persuasive 43 to the
ultimate issue. For the most part she Simply disagreed with Er.
opinion of no progress for this STUDENT while in
Henrico. Her opinion rested upon her position thoat D use
of testing for a cognitive score beginning in April,; was
inappropriate. Without deciding that issue T find it irrelevant as
discussed later in this decision where I have held that the cognitive
i1ssue defense presented by the fails not because of the
cognitive scores but because of the pProgress in the School.
Her further basis for her opinion of receipt of educaticnal
benefit relied upon what she sald was the description of skills that
teachers had seen gain. However, even this unpersuasive
basis was followed by this witness's Very revealing statement
"Certainly not no progress....". Dr. further testimony as
to the skills she said she understood that this STUDENT had gained in
the classrooms and that she Saw 1n her own testing to be steps in
toileting, transitioning, independent walking and a lot of little

things is not as credible as other witnesses and like some of the

other witnesses her appearance and manner of testifying had
effect upon the Credibility assigned to her evidenca,

The one witness for the who had the greatest opportunity
to know the truth about progress or lack thereof was
Speech therapist Ms. i She performed her own evaluation
of in October of and found to be unable to do what she
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had previously seen do. She stated that the

skills she had
previcusly seen in Ms,

classroom were not observed at the

evaluation, Though she stated that she believed had received
educational benefit her testimony and evaluation is to the contrary.
Essentially had no changes in expressive language and thas
evidence is consistent with

Elementary classroom
¢ wWho expressed that was nonverbal. Her
cplnion that the lack of skills shown in her evaluation was due to

teacher,

regression at the time is simply without foundation and unconvincing.

All of the remaining witnesses provided evidence that was more
believable considering the credibility of each witness than those of
the te These witnesses variously concluded either by testing,
evaluation, observation or review of relewvant documents, reports and
evaluations came to the same conclusion of an almost total lack of

educational Dbenefit received in in September, October and

November of and a significant educational benefit received as
measured by the observation of progress while in the six hour per day
twelve month a year program at the

Broken down into its most simple component what the evidence

showed as a whole was that throughout

educational experience lacked and never attained attending skills.
could not pay attention. Until was able to pay attention

did not while in the Public BSchool Bystem and could not

receive the appropriate educational benefit contemplated under IDEA.

Without exception experience at the School demonstrates

through their methodology o©of longer hours, behavior oriented

programs, one-on-one Iintensive instruction and twelve months of
instruction as opposed to the basic group instruction for
three hours without extended school year services demonstrated that

was able to and did, in fact, achieve the attending skills. As
measured by progress at the School ~ . was, therefore, able
there to receive educational benefit as IDEA and the law contemplate
as being appropriate.

I have carefully considered the evidence of progress at
the School only in terms of the determination of expected
raceipt of educational benefit from the November IEP as measuresd
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by the STUDENT's progressg,

This consideration 158 directly relevant
to the

dattempt to explain thisg STUDENT's lack of progress by

reference to cognitive impairment 4in addition to autism ag

belng an explanation of a very limited ability to progress. This

attempt fails being completely refuted by the evidence taken on

the
whole and by the consistent credible and believable evidence
presented showing significant brogress within the program at the

School.

I have given the most credibility to the Parents' witnesse=s in

reaching my decision. In particular I have found the mother,
 and Dr, after considering all of the

evidence as the testimony that I have most accepted. Similar to the
other witnesses testifying on behalf of the STUDENTI J£ind these two
witnesses based on their intelligence, their opportunity to know the
things about which they testified and their background and experience
in dealing with the unique individual reguirements of

to be the most believable. Mrsg. was concerned about her
clear cbservation of lack of pProgress of her when compared to the
witnessed progress of other like students in class. She
discovered ABZ Therapy through her own initiative and research. She
initiated that at home on her OWIl. She saw the results. She saw
those same results as claimed pProgress in Ms.

September, October and November of

clagss in
. There was no other so-
called progress and that which was claimed was actually the result of

Che home ABA Therapy primarily administered by Mrs. 8 Her
request for the use of aABA Therapy in the pProgram was met
with a stone wall refusal without any reasonable or adequate
explanation. Her observations of the change in her conduct,
activities and abilities outside of the school setting after

experience in the School were overwhelmingly convincing of

abllity to progress once the intensive ABA behavioral therapy was
able to address Previgus lack of attending skills. She was

concerned that attending skills were never identified as a goal in
the system nor under the November, IEP and concerned
that a majority of the goals in that IEP were the same as they had
been before using the very same teaching methodology. Mrs.
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Wwas a wvery convineing witness,

Likewise Dr. + Ph.D., was most believable. She
Clearly addressed primary skill that needaed to be mastered
before ' could receive educational benefit as attending skills,
In clear language she expressed the differences between the TEACCH
methodology used in and the BABA methodology used at +the

Schagl She explained in clear terms how until had
developed joint attention skills that would have little, if any,

ability to learn or receive educational benefit in a group session.
Dr. addressed the issue of least restrictive environment by
demonstrating again that without attending skills and the then
thereafter developed imitation skills that an autistic child such as
could receive no educational benefit in what has been called
throughout this case the natural environment, i1.e., least restricted
environment mixing with other nondisabled students. Mozt
cenvincingly Dr. demonstrated that the ABA Therapy used at
the School was Supported by the conclusions of empirical
review of literature and that the criticism of such methodology 4is
not based upon the standards of empirical evidence but from personal
opinion.
IV. Decision and Anglysig:

The November, IEP does not provide this Student a free and
appropriate education as it was not reasonably calculated to provide
him educational benefit. Under Board of Education of the Hendrick
Hudscn Central Schaool Distriect w, Rowley, 458 U.S. 176 {1982), the
IEP that is developed by the school must be reasonably calculated to
enable the child to receive educational benefit. The instruction and
service required must be individually designed to Provide that
educational benefit. Minimal educational benefit is not acceptable.
Florence County School District Four v. Shannon Carter, 950 F. 32d
156, 160, 18 IDELR 350 (4th Cir. 1991) and Hall v. Vance County Board
of Education, 774 F. 2Zd 629 (4th Cir. 1985) However, IDEA does not
reguire the school system to pbrovide the optimal education program,
MM v. Sch. Dist. of Greenville County, 303 F.3d 523, 526 (4th Cir.
2002)

Having made the finding of fact herein that "attending
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skills" must first be addressed before is able tgo receive

educational benefit and having made the finding of Ffact that the

November, IEP and the program developed thereunder does not
provide this required benefit based upon

sSame was addressed at the

the clear progress when the
School, reimbursement to the parents

for all costs and eéxpenses associated with the School is
ORDERED. Reimbursement is also ordered because of the failure of the

Novembear, IEP to offer extended schocl year services
found as a finding of fact to bhe necegsary for ' to receive
educational benefit and to progress. The full vyear of pProgram
service provided to . at the

School taken along with the

six hours of class time per day and its intensive one-on-ona
behavioral therapy all confirm that has the ability to receive
educational benefit not recognized or planned by the November,

IEP and not provided for by the very well intended but failed class-
rgom programs of the

Under the law as stated in Town of Burlington wv. Department of
Education for the Commonwealth of Massachusets, 471 U.s. 359, 105 8.
Ct. 1996 (1985) and Florence County School District Four v. Carter,
350 F.2d 156, 18 IDELR 350 (4th Cir. 1291) the required Prereguisites
to reimbursement have been shown. I have found the IEP of November,

to have failed to provide a free and appropriate education to
this STUDENT and the evidence and Stipulation by the
establishes educational benefit received at the School,

AS to the least restrictive environment requirement under IDEA
the placement at the School is absolutely necessary for
educational reasons and, therefore, outweighs any benefit that may be
gained by a less restrictive environment placement. The
Elementary School placement contemplated by the November, IEF
was by the evidence and my own observation only slightly less
restrictive than the School program. The teaching methods of
the School that provided educational benefit and progressz as
compared to the lack of any progress found through the
program by definition of the methodology used requires a very
restrictive environment:; having found that requirement, the least

restrictive environment reguirement, is overidden by the educational
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need.

Having decided the issue of educational benefit and progress as I

have it is not necessary, therefore, I do not issue any decision with

regard to the differences or appropriateness of educational
methodology, i1.e., the TEACCH method ws. the ABA method nor do I or
have I decided the claim by the parents for the development of a home
program beyond the school program itself.

Similarly, to the extent that there still remains any so-called
Section 504 claim or claim under the No Child Left Behind Act neither
of those claims or statutes are considered and there has been no
evidence thereabout and no legal or factual basis for any such claims
even made.

It is ORDERED that the parents, and

; are entitled to reimbursement of
tuition costs and related expenses at the
and the are the prevailing parties.
V. Notice of Appeal Rights:

This ruling shall be final and binding upon the parties unless
the decision is appealed by either party to a state circuit court or
a United States District C t within one year of the date of this
rulimg oy 5@%522.1—}14& 34 szj 5§300.510, 300.572; 300.514

— p—
y JIr. . Date
Hearing Officer
ol o . Esquire
. Esquire
, Ph.D., Director Public Schools

Dr. Judith A. Douglas, Department of Education

34



ATTORNEY AND COUNSELOR AT LAW

BUILDING
SLHTE

. VIRGINIA
TELEPHONE TELEFAX »

Esgquire

; Virginig

r Esguire
Office of the Attorney

Re: Due Process Hearing
i Public Schools

Dear Ms. and Mr. HE-

The Commonwealth of Virginia's Department of Education Office
of Digpute Resolution and Administrative Services has reviewed my
decision and determined that I had used incorrect appeal rights
language. Abiding by the Department's recommendation, the language
of my decision with regard to Notice of Appeal Rights is amended to
read as follows:

This decision iz final and binding unless appealed by a party
in a state circuit court within one year of this decision's
issuance date, or in a federal court.

Thank you for your attention, and I remaip

¥ours |[truly,

cc: ~Or. Judith A. Douglas
Patrick Andriano, Coordinator of Due Process Services






